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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA
 

SHREVEPORT DIVISION
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) CASE NO: 
) 

v. ) 
) 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF ) 
BOSSIER CITY, ) 

)
 
Defendant. )
 

)
 

COMPLAINT 

The United States of America (“United States”) files this Complaint, alleging as follows: 

1. This action is brought by the United States to enforce the provisions of the Fair 

Housing Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq. 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1345 and 42 U.S.C. 

§ 3614(a).  

3. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because (a) the 

events giving rise to this action occurred in this judicial district; (b) the properties that are the 

subject of this action are situated in this judicial district; and (c) the defendant is located in this 

judicial district.  

I. Housing Authority of Bossier City 

4. Defendant Housing Authority of the Bossier City, Louisiana (“HABC”) is a 

political subdivision of the State of Louisiana and is a public body, corporate and politic, created 

to provide decent, safe and sanitary dwellings to persons of low income in the City of Bossier 

(“Bossier”).  La. Rev. Stat. §§ 40:384; 40:392. 
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5. Between 1953 and 1985, the HABC developed seven public housing complexes 

containing 437 housing units that it continues to own and operate as public housing today. All of 

these housing units are federally subsidized under the United States Housing Act of 1937, 42 

U.S.C. § 1437 et seq. The HABC’s public housing complexes are:  Cisco Homes, established in 

1953; Mariah Bush Homes, established in 1958; Central Park, established in 1958; Hall Park, 

established in 1967; Scott/Dickerson, established in 1969; Patricia Plaza I, established in 1981; 

and Patricia Plaza II, established in 1985.  These complexes are dwellings within the meaning of 

the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3602(b). 

6. Since their development in 1981 and 1985, respectively, Patricia Plaza I and 

Patricia Plaza II have been designated by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (“HUD”) as housing for persons over age 62, or “elderly persons,” as that term is 

used in 42 U.S.C. § 1437e(a)(1). Consistent with this designation, only households whose head, 

co-head, spouse, or sole member is at least 62 years of age are eligible to live at Patricia Plaza I 

and Patricia Plaza II. The HABC’s five other public housing complexes, referred to here as 

“General Occupancy Complexes,” are open to all qualified residents, regardless of age. 

II.	 The HABC has Discriminated Against Applicants and Residents Eligible to 
Live at Patricia Plaza on the Basis of Race.  

7. From at least 2007 until at least 2014, the HABC has segregated the population of 

residents eligible to live at Patricia Plaza I or II by assigning such households to housing 

complexes based on race and color, rather than based on their place on the waiting list. 

Specifically, the HABC has disproportionately assigned White-headed households (“White 

households”) eligible to live at Patricia Plaza to Patricia Plaza I or Patricia Plaza II, while 

disproportionately assigning Black-headed households (“Black households”) also eligible to live 

at Patricia Plaza to one of the General Occupancy Complexes. 
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8. According to 2010 U.S. Census Bureau data, the population of Bossier City is 

approximately 61% White, 27% Black, 7% Hispanic, and 5% Asian, American Indian, or another 

racial designation. 

9. At all times relevant to the allegations in this Complaint, the vast majority of the 

residents at the HABC’s five General Occupancy Complexes have been Black.  In 2014, for 

example, between approximately 90% and 98% of the population at the General Occupancy 

Complexes, depending on the complex, was Black.  In addition, at all times relevant to this 

complaint, the vast majority of the Black households who reside in HABC properties have 

resided in one of the General Occupancy Complexes.  In 2014, for example, approximately 

84% of all Black HABC households lived in one of the General Occupancy Complexes. 

10. By contrast, at all times relevant to the allegations in this Complaint, a 

significantly greater portion of the population at Patricia Plaza I and II has been White than is the 

case at the General Occupancy Complexes.   In 2014, for example, approximately 44% of the 

population at Patricia Plaza I and II was White.  In addition, at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, the vast majority of White households who reside in HABC properties have resided 

in Patricia Plaza.  In 2014, approximately 90% of all White HABC households lived in Patricia 

Plaza I or II.  

11. Analyses of occupancy data maintained by HUD from 2007 to 2014 show that 

among households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza, White households are being housed 

disproportionately at Patricia Plaza I while Black households are being housed 

disproportionately in the General Occupancy Complexes. The disparities are statistically 

significant and cannot be explained by neutral factors such as household size or eligibility to live 

at Patricia Plaza.  
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12. In 2011, Black households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza were underrepresented 

at Patricia Plaza I by a difference of 18 percentage points from the occupancy rate that would be 

expected if the HABC were making housing assignments in a race-neutral manner.  White 

households were overrepresented at Patricia Plaza I by a difference of 13 percentage points from 

what would be expected if the HABC were making housing assignments in a race-neutral 

manner.  Similarly, White households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza were underrepresented in 

the General Occupancy Complexes by a deviation of 35 percentage points while Black 

households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza were overrepresented in the General Occupancy 

Complexes by a deviation of 61 percentage points.  

13. Again, in 2014, Black households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza were 

underrepresented at Patricia Plaza I by a difference of 18 percentage points from the occupancy 

rate that would be expected if the HABC were making housing assignments in a race-neutral 

manner. White households were overrepresented at Patricia Plaza I by a difference of 16 

percentage points from what would be expected if the HABC were making housing assignments 

in a race-neutral manner. Similarly, White households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza were 

underrepresented in the General Occupancy Complexes by a deviation of 32 percentage points 

while Black households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza were overrepresented in the General 

Occupancy Complexes by a deviation of 36 percentage points. 

14. In 2014, 95% of White households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza lived at 

Patricia Plaza I whereas only 44% of Black households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza lived at 

Patricia Plaza I.  Less than 1% of White households eligible to live at Patricia Plaza lived in the 

General Occupancy Complexes (1 household), whereas 54% of Black households eligible to live 

at Patricia Plaza lived in the General Occupancy Complexes. 
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15. The racial segregation described above is a direct result of the HABC’s current 

policy and practice of assigning elderly applicants and residents, and applicants and residents 

otherwise qualified to live at Patricia Plaza, to particular complexes based on race and color 

rather than applying consistently its Admissions and Continued Placement Policy (“ACOP”).  

16. Adopted by the HABC, the ACOP is the policy document that governs 

admissions and occupancy of the public housing units administered by the HABC. 

17. Among its provisions, the ACOP requires that the HABC make housing 

assignments from a waiting list that is maintained by bedroom size in the order in which 

households applied and without regard to resident preference for a particular complex or 

location.  Instead of following the ACOP, however, the HABC has followed a practice of 

primarily assigning White households that are eligible to live at Patricia Plaza to Patricia Plaza I, 

while primarily assigning Black households also eligible to live at Patricia Plaza to units in one 

of the General Occupancy Complexes. To do this, the HABC selected some White applicants 

ahead of Black applicants for Patricia Plaza I, even though Black applicants had higher positions 

on the waiting list.  Similarly, in filling vacancies at the General Occupancy Complexes, the 

HABC selected Black applicants over comparable White applicants, even though White 

applicants had higher positions on the waiting list.  In so doing, the HABC staff followed a 

practice of deferring to the preferences of White households for Patricia Plaza, or of deferring to 

the staff’s perceptions that White households would prefer Patricia Plaza and that Black 

households would prefer the General Occupancy Complexes. 

18. Additionally, while the ACOP requires that the HABC maintain an HABC-wide, 

prioritized transfer list, the HABC has followed a practice of providing Black residents who are 

eligible to live at Patricia Plaza transfers primarily within the General Occupancy Complexes 
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while providing comparable White households transfers primarily within Patricia Plaza. 

19. The HABC’s discriminatory policies and practices described in this Section have 

harmed Black applicants and residents who are elderly or otherwise qualified to live at Patricia 

Plaza. The HABC has done so by: (1) skipping qualified Black applicants on the waiting list to 

fill vacancies at Patricia Plaza I with later-applying White applicants, thereby delaying or 

denying Black applicants housing; and (2) denying qualified Black applicants the opportunity to 

transfer to Patricia Plaza I. 

III.	 The HABC has Discriminated Against Non-Elderly Applicants and Residents on the 
Basis of Disability. 

20. From at least 2007 until at least 2014, the HABC has segregated its public 

housing population based on disability by assigning non-elderly residents with disabilities – who 

are qualified to live at any of the housing complexes – based on disability, rather than based on 

their place on the waiting list. Specifically, the HABC has assigned, in a disproportionate 

manner, non-elderly residents with disabilities to Patricia Plaza II and elderly residents and 

residents without disabilities to Patricia Plaza I and the General Occupancy Complexes.  The 

HABC has also transferred elderly residents from Patricia Plaza II to Patricia Plaza I, further 

segregating non-elderly residents with disabilities at Patricia Plaza II. 

21. As explained above, Patricia Plaza I and Patricia Plaza II are designated by HUD 

as housing for elderly persons.  Consistent with that designation, Patricia Plaza I and II are open 

to residents who are elderly, whether or not they have a disability.  In practice, however, the 

HABC has generally considered only elderly residents and applicants as eligible for Patricia 

Plaza I and only non-elderly residents and applicants with disabilities as eligible for Patricia 

Plaza II.  

22.	 Analyses of occupancy data maintained by HUD from 2007 to 2014 show that 
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non-elderly residents with disabilities have been significantly overrepresented at Patricia Plaza II 

as compared to Patricia Plaza I.  The overrepresentation of non-elderly residents with disabilities 

at Patricia Plaza II as compared to Patricia Plaza I was statistically significant and cannot be 

explained by neutral factors such as household size.  

23. For example, if elderly residents and non-elderly residents with disabilities were 

assigned to Patricia Plaza I and II without non-elderly residents with disabilities being 

segregated at Patricia Plaza II and elderly residents at Patricia Plaza I, approximately 31% of the 

residents at each of the two Patricia Plaza properties would have been non-elderly residents with 

disabilities in 2014.  However, non-elderly residents with disabilities accounted for 

approximately 90% of residents at Patricia Plaza II and only approximately 6% of the residents 

at Patricia Plaza I in that year.  Non-elderly residents with disabilities were also overrepresented 

in Patricia Plaza II relative to one-bedroom units among the General Occupancy Complexes, as 

only approximately 26% of one- or two-person households without children among the General 

Occupancy Complexes included a non-elderly resident with a disability.  

24. More generally, residents with disabilities, regardless of age, are significantly 

disproportionately represented at Patricia Plaza II compared to both Patricia Plaza I and the 

General Occupancy Complexes.  In 2014, persons with disabilities accounted for approximately 

87% of the residents at Patricia Plaza II but only 45% of the residents at Patricia Plaza I and 

approximately 54% of the one- or two-person households without children living in the General 

Occupancy Complexes. 

25. Between 2008 and 2014, HABC filled 85 vacancies at Patricia Plaza I and 35 

vacancies at Patricia Plaza II.  The HABC filled only nine of the vacancies at Patricia Plaza I 

with non-elderly applicants with disabilities.  By contrast, the HABC filled all of the 35 
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vacancies at Patricia Plaza II with non-elderly applicants with disabilities. To do so, HABC 

selected some elderly applicants ahead of non-elderly applicants with disabilities who had higher 

positions on the waiting list in order to house elderly applicants at Patricia Plaza I.  Similarly, the 

HABC selected non-elderly applicants with disabilities over elderly applicants who had higher 

positions on the waiting list in order to house non-elderly applicants with disabilities at Patricia 

Plaza II. 

26. The HABC skipped over non-elderly applicants with disabilities on the waiting 

list when filling vacancies more frequently than it skipped over other applicants.  Non-elderly 

applicants with disabilities were skipped over an average of approximately 16 times before being 

assigned to a unit, whereas elderly applicants and all other applicants were skipped over an 

average of approximately four times before being assigned to a unit. 

27. The HABC’s discriminatory policies and practices described in this Section have 

harmed non-elderly applicants with disabilities.  HABC has done so by:  (1) skipping qualified 

non-elderly applicants with disabilities on the waiting list to fill vacancies at Patricia Plaza I and 

the General Occupancy Complexes with later-applying applicants without disabilities, thereby 

delaying or denying non-elderly applicants with disabilities housing; and (2) denying qualified 

non-elderly applicants with disabilities the opportunity to transfer to Patricia Plaza I.  

28. The disability-based segregation described above is a direct result of the HABC’s 

current policy and practice of selecting new residents for Patricia Plaza II on the basis of 

disability and transferring residents from Patricia Plaza II to Patricia Plaza I when they reach age 

62. In so doing, the HABC has failed to apply consistently the HUD designation for the Patricia 

Plaza complexes and its ACOP.  Instead, HABC staff followed a practice of deferring to the 

actual or perceived preferences of non-elderly applicants or residents with disabilities for Patricia 
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Plaza II.  Staff also deferred to other residents’ actual or perceived preferences for avoiding  

Patricia Plaza II, based on stereotypes and fears of living with persons with disabilities.  

IV.	 The HABC’s Actions Violate the Fair Housing Act. 

29. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 28 are hereby realleged and 

incorporated by reference. 

30.	 By engaging in the conduct described above, the defendant has: 

a)	 refused to rent, refused to negotiate for the rental of, and otherwise made 

unavailable or denied dwellings to persons because of race or color in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a); 

b)	 discriminated against persons in the terms, conditions, or privileges of the 

rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in 

connection therewith, because of race or color in violation of 42 U.S.C. 

§ 3604(b); 

c)	 discriminated in the rental of, or otherwise made unavailable or denied, 

dwellings to renters because of disability, in violation of 42 U.S.C. 

§ 3604(f)(1); and 

d)	 discriminated against persons in the terms, conditions, or privileges of the 

rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in 

connection with such dwelling, because of disability in violation of 42 

U.S.C. § 3604(f)(2). 

31.	 The conduct of the defendant constitutes: 

a.	 A pattern or practice of resistance to the full enjoyment of rights 

secured by the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.; and 
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b.	 A denial to a group of persons of rights granted by the Fair Housing 

Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq., which denial raises an issue of general 

public importance. 

32. Individuals who were subjected to defendant’s discriminatory housing practices 

are aggrieved persons as defined by the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3602(i), and have suffered 

actual injury and damages as a result of defendant’s conduct as described herein. 

33.	 Defendant’s conduct described above was intentional, willful, and/or taken with 

disregard for the rights of others. 

WHEREFORE, the United States prays that the Court enter an order that: 

A. Declares that the defendant’s policies and practices, as alleged herein, violate the 

Fair Housing Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.; 

B. Enjoins defendant, its agents, employees and successors, and all other persons in 

active concert or participation with it, from: 

(1)	 Discriminating on account of race, color, or disability against any person 

in any aspect of the rental of a dwelling; and 

(2)	 Discriminating in the terms, conditions, or privileges, of rental of 

dwellings on the basis of race, color, or disability. 

C. Requires defendant to take all necessary and appropriate affirmative steps to 

correct the continuing effects of its past and present discriminatory practices. 

D. Requires such action by the defendant as may be necessary to restore all persons 

aggrieved by its discriminatory housing practices to the position they would have occupied but 

for such discriminatory conduct. 

E.	 Awards monetary damages to each person aggrieved by defendant’s 
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discriminatory housing practices, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3614(d)(1)(B).
 

The United States further prays for such additional relief as the interests of justice may 


require. 

Dated:  September 30, 2016 

STEPHANIE A. FINLEY 
United States Attorney 

s/ Karen J. King 
KAREN J. KING (#23508) 
Assistant United States Attorney 
800 Lafayette Street, Suite 2200 
Lafayette, Louisiana 70501 
Telephone: (337) 262-6618 
Facsimile:  (337) 262-6693 
Email: karen.king@usdoj.gov 

LORETTA E. LYNCH 
Attorney General 

s/ Vanita Gupta 
VANITA GUPTA 
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Rights Division 

s/ Sameena Shina Majeed 
SAMEENA SHINA MAJEED 
Chief 
Housing and Civil Enforcement Section 
Civil Rights Division 

s/ Junis L. Baldon            
TIMOTHY J. MORAN 
Deputy Chief 
EMILY M. SAVNER 
JUNIS L. BALDON 
Trial Attorneys 
Housing and Civil Enforcement Section 
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. - NWB 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
Telephone:  (202) 353-4081 
Facsimile:    (202) 514-1116 
Email: emily.savner@usdoj.gov 

junis.baldon@usdoj.gov 
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